IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

MARLENY RIVAS,)

Plaintiff-Appellant,)

vs.)

S.C. NO. 23-1829

DEREK BROWNELL and)
LINDSEY WESSEL,)

POLK CO CASE NO. LACL148935

Defendants-Appellees.)

**APPEAL FROM THE
IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE SCOTT D. ROSENBERG, JUDGE**

**BRIEF FOR APPELLANT AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Christopher Johnston, AT0012625
LAW GROUP OF IOWA
A Johnston Martineau LLP Company
7900 Hickman Road, Suite 200
Windsor Heights, Iowa 50324
Phone: 515-493-4878
Email: CJohnston@JMLegal.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

Statement of Issues Presented for Review

1. Summary of argument
2. Standard of review and preservation of error raised in this appeal.
3. The Iowa Supreme Court's Supervisory Orders do not violate the Iowa Constitution's doctrine of separation-of-powers, so the tolling of the statutes of limitations was proper, Rivas's petition was timely, and the district court erred by granting summary judgment in defendants' favor on the basis that plaintiffs' petition was time-barred.
 - A. *State v. Basquin* applies to this case, so this court should reverse the district court and remand for further proceedings.
 - B. If *Basquin* does not apply to this case, the Supervisory Orders do not violate the separation-of-powers doctrine.
 - C. If this court holds the Supervisory Orders are invalid, this court should consider Rivas's petition timely filed based upon the equitable tolling of the statute of limitations.

Routing Statement

This appeal concerns whether the Iowa Supreme Court had the authority to toll statutes of limitations through a supervisory order in response to a global health crisis. Based on that issue, the supreme court should retain this case rather than transfer it to the court of appeals for the following reasons. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101. First, this case “presents substantial constitutional questions as to the validity of a ... court ... rule.” R. 6.1101(2)(a). Second, this appeal presents an issue of first impression.¹ R. 6.1101(2)(c). Finally, this appeal also involves “fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the supreme court.” R. 6.1101(2)(a)(d).

¹ The Iowa Supreme Court previously faced this issue. *See Dickey v. Hoff*, No. 21-0859, 2022 WL 12127101 (Iowa Oct. 21, 2022). However, because that court was evenly divided, the lower court’s ruling was affirmed by operation of law. *Id.* (citing Iowa Code § 602.4107 (2022)). That affirmation “is of no further force or authority.” § 602.4107.

Statement of the Case

Nature of the case

This appeal derives from the district court's ruling granting the defendants' summary judgment motion. Specifically, the district court held that the Iowa Supreme Court's Supervisory Order concerning the COVID-19 pandemic filed on April 2, 2020, and supplemented on May 8, 2020, and confirmed on May 22, 2020 (hereinafter referred collectively as "Supervisory Orders")², which tolled the statute of limitations applicable to the action, was unconstitutional as a violation the separation-of-powers doctrine. *See* Iowa Const. art. III, § 3. With the district court declaring the Supervisory Order invalid, Plaintiffs' petition was time-barred by the statute of limitations, so the district court dismissed the action.

² *See* Iowa Sup. Ct. Supervisory Order, In the Matter of Ongoing Provisions for Coronavirus/COVID-19 Impact on Court Services (May 22, 2020); Iowa Sup. Ct. Supervisory Order, In the Matter of Ongoing Provisions for Coronavirus/COVID-19 Impact on Court Services (May 8, 2020); Iowa Sup. Ct. Supervisory Order, In the Matter of Ongoing Provisions for Coronavirus/COVID-19 Impact on Court Services (April 2, 2020).

Plaintiffs appeal. This appeal is from a final order. *See Iowa R. App. P. 6.103(1)*.

Course of proceedings and disposition in district court

Marleny Rivas alleged that she was injured in an automobile accident involving two other vehicles, one driven by Derek Brownell and the other driven by Lindsey Wessel (hereinafter cumulatively referred to as “Defendants”). (D0001, Pet. ¶¶1-14 (10/16/2020).) The accident occurred on August 4, 2018. (*Id.* ¶¶8-11.) Based on her injuries, Rivas filed her petition against Defendants on October 16, 2020. (*See generally id.*)

On February 8, 2023, Brownell filed a motion for summary judgment arguing that Rivas’s claims were time-barred under the statute of limitations in Iowa Code section 614.1(2) (2017). (D0059, Def. Brownell MSJ (02/08/2023); D0060, Def. Brownell’s Memo. of Auth. in Supp. of MSJ (02/08/2023); D0061, Def. Brownell’s Stmt. of Undisp. Facts in Supp. of MSJ (02/08/2023); D0061 – Attachment Ex. A (Rivas’s Pet, *see* D0001) (02/08/2023); D0061 – Attachment Ex. B (Iowa Sup. Ct. Supervisory Order, In the Matter of Ongoing

Provisions for Coronavirus/COVID-19 Impact on Court Services
(May 22, 2020)) (02/08/2023).)

On March 14, 2023, Wessel filed a separate motion for summary judgment making the same argument as Brownell. (D0067, Def. Wessell MSJ (03/14/2023); D0068, Def. Wessell Memo. in Supp. of MSJ (03/14/2023); D0069, Def. Wessel Stmt. of Undisp. Facts in Supp. of MSJ (03/14/2023); D0070, Def. Wessel App. in Supp. of MSJ (03/14/2023)).

Rivas resisted Defendants' motions for summary judgment. (D0073, Pl's Resist to MSJ (04/07/2022); D0073 – Attachment (Pl's Memo. of Auth. in Supp. of Resist to MSJ (04/07/2023)); In response, Wessel filed a reply. (D0074, Def. Wessel's Reply to Pl's Resist to MSJ (04/13/2023); D0075, Def. Wessel's Brief in Reply to Pl's Resist to MSJ (04/13/2023).)

The district court entered its dispositive ruling on November 2, 2023. (D0091, Ruling & Order on Defs' MSJ (11/02/2023).) In that ruling, the court concluded: "the petition was not timely filed, and

this action should be, and is, dismissed with prejudice.” (D0091 at 3.) Plaintiffs timely appealed. (D0093, Not. of Appeal (11/08/2023).)

Statement of the Facts

On August 4, 2018, Rivas was sitting westbound at a red stoplight at the intersection of Diehl and SE 14th Street, in Des Moines, Iowa. (D0001 at ¶9.) At the same time and place, Wessel, who was driving a 2010 Chevrolet Malibu, was southbound on SE 14th street going through the intersection to turn eastbound onto Diehl Avenue. (*Id.* at ¶12.) At the same time and place, Brownell, who was driving a 2006 Dodge Grand Caravan, travelled through the intersection and collided with Wessel causing Brownell’s vehicle to roll on its side and collide with Rivas’s vehicle. (*Id.* at ¶13.) As a result of the collision, Rivas and her three minor children, who were passengers in Rivas’s vehicle, sustained injuries. (*Id.* at ¶10, ¶14.) Based on this incident, Rivas filed a petition against the Defendants on October 16, 2020. (*See generally id.*)

Argument

1. Summary of argument

Rivas suffered her injuries in an automobile accident that occurred on August 4, 2018. Iowa Code section 614.2 (2018) mandates that Rivas had to bring her action against the defendants within two years “after their causes accrue, and not afterwards”, i.e., by August 4, 2020. *See Benskin, Inc. v. W. Bank*, 952 N.W.2d 292, 300 (Iowa 2020) (applying “the period of limitation that is in effect when the plaintiff sues”). However, the Iowa Supreme Court extended that deadline by its Supervisory Orders. *See Supervisory Orders*. As such, Rivas timely filed her petition on October 19, 2020. (*See generally* D0001). The supreme court’s extension was a constitutional use of its authority and not a violation of the doctrine of separation-of-powers. The district court erred by concluding otherwise. The supreme court should reverse the district court’s grant of summary judgment in defendants’ favor and remand for further proceedings.

2. Standard of review and preservation of error raised in this appeal.

Rivas appeals the district court's grant of summary judgment in the defendants' favor which disposed of Rivas' entire case. (*See* D0091.) Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Schoff v. Combined Ins. Co.*, 604 N.W.2d 43, 45 (Iowa 1999); *see* Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981. An issue is material when the dispute is over facts that might affect the outcome of the suit, given the applicable governing law. *Baratta v. Polk Co. Health Serv.*, 588 N.W.2d 107, 109 (Iowa 1999). That determination is made by examining the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions, and affidavits incorporated in the motion and any resistance. R. 1.981(3); *Clinton Nat'l Bank v. Saucier*, 580 N.W.2d 717, 719 (Iowa 1998). A fact issue is developed only if reasonable minds can differ on how the issue can be resolved. *Schlueter v. Grinnell Mut. Reins.*, 553 N.W.2d 614, 616 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996). When the facts are undisputed and the only issue is

what legal consequence flows from the facts, summary judgment should be granted. *Kennedy v. Zimmerman*, 601 N.W.2d 61, 63 (1999).

Generally, the Iowa Supreme Court reviews “a district court’s ruling on summary judgment for correction of errors at law.” *Weizberg v. City of Des Moines*, 923 N.W.2d 200, 211 (Iowa 2018) (citations omitted). However, when the summary judgment was based on a constitutional issue, as it is in this case, “review is de novo.” *Id.* When invoking the separation-of-powers doctrine, the supreme court “shall make its own evaluation, based on the totality of circumstances, to determine whether th[e questioned] power has been exercised appropriately.” *Hrbek v. State*, 958 N.W.2d 779, 784 (Iowa 2021) (quoting *Webster Cnty. Bd. of Supervisors v. Flattery*, 268 N.W.2d 869, 872 (Iowa 1978) (en banc)).

Rivas preserved the issues and arguments raised in this appeal by resisting the defendants’ motion for summary judgment on whether her claim is time-barred by Iowa Code section 614.1(2). (*See generally* D0091.) Specifically, the parties litigated the

constitutionality of the supreme court's Supervisory Orders. (*See* D0059; D0060; D0061; D0061 – Attachment Ex. A; D0061 – Attachment Ex. B; D0067; D0068; D0069; D0070; D0073; D0073 – Attachment; D0074; D0075.) The district court then granted summary judgment in defendants' favor on that point. (D0091.) Thus, the issue is preserved for appellate review. *See Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002).

3. The Iowa Supreme Court's Supervisory Orders do not violate the Iowa Constitution's doctrine of separation-of-powers, so the tolling of the statutes of limitations was proper, Rivas's petition was timely, and the district court erred by granting summary judgment in defendants' favor on the basis that plaintiffs' petition was time-barred.

On March 17, 2020, Governor Reynolds declared a state of public health disaster emergency in response to the outbreak of COVID-19 and mounting global pandemic. State of Iowa Exec. Dep't, Proclamation of Disaster Emergency (Mar. 17, 2020), <https://perma.cc/ZBZ4-QBNM>. In doing so, Governor Reynolds recognized that the federal government and international

organizations had taken similar action. *Id.* Starting on April 2, 2020, the Iowa Supreme Court a series supervisory orders that “balanc[e] the need to take measures to reduce the spread of the virus with [the Iowa Judicial Branch’s] commitment to conduct[] business as necessary.” Supervisory Order at 1, filed May 22, 2020.

In response to global pandemic COVID-19, the Iowa Supreme Court first issued its “In the Matter of Ongoing Provisions For Coronavirus/COVID-198 Impact On Court Services” on April 2, 2020.³ Specifically, the court ordered:

33. Tolloed. Any statute of limitations, statute of repose, or similar deadline for commencing an action in district court is hereby tolled from March 17 to June 1 (76 days). Tolling means that amount of time to the statute of limitations or similar deadline. So, for example, if the statute would run on April 8, 2020, it now runs on June 23, 2020 (76 days later).

³ Iowa Sup. Ct. Supervisory Order, In the Matter of Ongoing Provisions for Coronavirus/COVID-19 Impact on Court Services (Apr. 2, 2020) [hereinafter Apr. 2 Order]. <https://www.iowacourts.gov/collections/485/files/1076/embedDocument/> ; <https://perma.cc/P9L3-H3HZ> .

(Supervisory Order p9 ¶33, filed April 2, 2020 (emphasis in original)).

On May 8, 2020,⁴ the Iowa Supreme Court expanded its April 2 Order, stating:

3. Statute of Limitations Tolling. As previously ordered on April 2, 2020, any statute of limitations, statute of repose, or similar deadline for commencing an action in district court is tolled from March 17 to June 1 (76 days). Tolling means that amount of time is added to the statute of limitations or similar deadline.

4. Expansion of Prior Supervisory Order. The court now expands on the earlier supervisory order to direct that the 76 days of tolling will apply if the deadline for commencing the action would otherwise expire any time from March 17, 2020 to December 31, 2020. In other words, if the statute would otherwise run on July 7, 2020, it now runs on September 21, 2020 (76 days later). However, after December 31, 2020, any tolling will be phased out and eliminated. Thus, if the deadline for commencing the action would otherwise expire on any date from December 31, 2020 to March 16, 2020 (the 76th day of 2020), inclusive, that deadline would become

⁴ Iowa Sup. Ct. Supervisory Order, In the Matter of Ongoing Provisions for Coronavirus/COVID-19 Impact on Court Services (May 8, 2020) [hereinafter May 8 Order], <https://www.iowacourts.gov/collections/497/files/1091/embedDocument/> ; <https://perma.cc/P2TZ-QMFM>

March 17, 2020, and thereafter there would be no tolling at all.

(Supervisory Order p2 ¶¶3-4, May 8, 2020 (emphasis in original)).

On May 22, 2020, the supreme court issued another supervisory order⁵ that replaced the April 2 and May 8 orders:

STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

45. **Tolling.***^[6] Any statute of limitations, statute of repose, or similar deadline for commencing an action in district court is hereby tolled from March 17, 2020 to June 1, 2020 (76 days). Tolling means that amount of time to the statute of limitations or similar deadline. The 76 days of tolling will apply if the deadline for

⁵ On March 12, 2021, the supreme court issued a final supervisory order that affected the tolling of statutes of limitations; however, the 2021 Order confirmed and made no changes to the May 22, 2020 order. Because the May 22 Order is the order that ultimately affects this action, Appellants will refer to that order. Iowa Sup. Ct. Supervisory Order, In the Matter of Ongoing Provisions for Coronavirus/COVID-19 Impact on Court Services (May 22, 2020) [hereinafter May 22 Order],

<https://www.iowacourts.gov/collections/499/files/1093/embedDocument/>

⁶ Regarding the asterisk, the order stated: “For the convenience of the reader, paragraphs that are substantively identical to provisions in prior supervisory orders are marked with a single asterisk *.” (May 22 Order p2.)

commencing the action would otherwise expire *any time from March 17, 2020 to December 31, 2020*. In other words, if the statute would otherwise run on July 7, 2020, it now runs on September 21, 2020 (76 days later). However, after December 31, 2020, any tolling will be phased out and eliminated. Thus, if the deadline for commencing the action would otherwise expire on any date from December 31, 2020 to March 16, 2021 (the 76th day of 2021), inclusive, that deadline would become March 17, 2021, and thereafter there would be no tolling at all.

(Supervisory Order p14 ¶45, filed May 22, 2020 (emphasis in original).)

The Supervisor Orders were issued pursuant to the authority granted to the judicial branch. Specifically, the Iowa Constitution provides: “The judicial power shall be vested in a supreme court, district courts, and such other courts, inferior to the supreme court, as the general assembly may, from time to time, establish.” Iowa Const. art. V, § 1. The Iowa Constitution further provides: “The supreme court ... shall have power to issue all writs and process necessary to secure justice to parties, and shall exercise a

supervisory and administrative control over all inferior judicial tribunals throughout the state.” Iowa Const. art. V, § 4.

By statute, the Iowa Legislature authorized the judicial department to “prescribe all rules of pleading, practice, evidence, and procedure, and the forms of process, writs, and notices, for all proceedings in all courts of this state, for the purposes of simplifying the proceedings and promoting the speedy determination of litigation upon its merits.” Iowa Code § 602.4201(1) (2023). Considering its authority in previous cases, the Iowa Supreme Court wrote:

[T]he judiciary is vested with inherent power to do whatever is essential to the performance of its constitutional functions. ... “It was certainly never intended that any one department, through the exercise of its acknowledged powers, should be able to prevent another department from fulfilling its responsibilities to the people under the Constitution.”

Webster County, 268 N.W.2d at 874 (quoting *O’Coin’s, Inc. v. Treasurer of County of Worcester*, 287 N.E.2d 608, 612 (Mass. 1972)).

Weighing the Supervisory Orders against the supreme court's constitutional and statutory authority, the district court accepted NNI's argument that Supervisory Orders' tolling the statute of limitations is an unconstitutional usurpation by the supreme court of the legislature's power to set statutes of limitations. (D0078 at p4-5.) In summary, Iowa Code section 614.1(2) enacted by the legislature provides that a personal injury tort claim must be brought within two years of the date of injury. Iowa Code § 6.14(1)(2) (2018). The district court wrote:

In response to the COVID-19 epidemic the Iowa Supreme Court issued a supervisory order tolling the statute of limitations set out in Iowa Code § 614.1(2) by 76 days. § 614.1(2) provides that actions based upon injuries to persons or reputation must be brought within two years from the date of the alleged acts leading to such injuries. An exception is allowed regarding medical malpractice cases known as the discovery rule. (See §614.1(9), Code of Iowa). The Iowa Supreme Court has stated that the tolling of the statute of limitations is "purely statutory," and the Iowa Supreme Court is "not free to expand the concept to avoid hardships." *Harrington v. Toshiba Machine Co., Ltd.*, 562 N.W.2d 190, 192 (Iowa 1997), citing *Boyle v. Boyle*, 126 Iowa 167, 168, 101 N.W. 748, 748 (1904). Thus, the Iowa Supreme Court supervisory order extending the time for

filing petitions such as the one at bar is beyond the power of the Iowa Supreme Court.

The petition filed in this matter was filed 62 days after the statute of limitations period had expired. Therefore, the petition was not timely filed, and this action should be, and is, dismissed with prejudice.

(D0091 at 3.) The district court erred accepting that argument. This court should reverse.

A. *Basquin* applies to this case, so this court should reverse the district court and remand for further proceedings.

Recently, the Iowa Supreme Court directly addressed the constitutionality of the Supervisory Orders and held them valid.

State v. Basquin, 970 N.W.2d 643, 657 (Iowa 2022), *as amended*

(Mar. 2, 2022). The *Basquin* Court held:

Our COVID-19 supervisory orders providing for temporary procedural measures in response to a global pandemic fall well within this grant of constitutional authority dedicated to the judicial branch. We also can rely on our inherent, statutory, and common law authority, as discussed above, as a source of power for the COVID-19 supervisory orders. We likewise did not use any power granted exclusively to another branch of government.

Id. at 657. “The legislature has not attempted to countermand the supervisory orders at issue.” *Id.* at 658. The court also rejected a due process challenge. *Id.* at 658–60. Thus, as it did in *Basquin*, defendants’ separation-of-powers argument in this case fails. *Id.*; *see also State v. Tesch*, No. 21-0343, 2022 WL 1100922, at *3-*4 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 3, 2022) (citing *Basquin* and concluding “the pandemic-related orders were “valid reasons” for the delays” and did not violate a criminal defendant’s constitutional right to a speedy trial); *Murphy v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 274 A.3d 412, 433-41 (Md. 2022) (holding that Chief Judge had authority under State Constitution and Maryland Rules to issue administrative tolling order in emergency).

B. If *Basquin* does not apply to this case, the Supervisory Orders do not violate the separation-of-powers doctrine.

If *Basquin* is distinguishable from this case, other precedent supports the constitutionality of the Supervisory Orders. The Supreme Court had other authority legislatively granted to the Supreme Court – the authority to open and close courthouses. Thus,

the Supervisory Order is part of the Supreme Court's authority to control and operate the judicial branch.

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