**IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT
NO. 23-1829
(Polk County No. LACL148935)**

MARLENY RIVAS,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

DEREK BROWNELL and LINDSEY WESSEL,

Defendants-Appellees.

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE SCOTT D. ROSENBERG, JUDGE**

APPELLEE DEREK BROWNELL'S BRIEF

CARMONEY LAW FIRM, PLLC

Jack W. Leverenz

Allison J. Frederick

2400 86th St., Suite 25

Des Moines, IA 50322

Phone: (515) 277.6550

Fax: (515) 277.6561

jack@carmonylaw.com

allison@carmonylaw.com

COUNSEL FOR DEREK BROWNELL

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

ARGUMENT

I. Preservation of Error

There is no dispute that Plaintiff has preserved the right to appeal the district court's order granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. Plaintiff resisted Defendants' Motions. (D0073, Resistance, 4/7/23). By Order dated November 2, 2023, the district court granted Defendant Brownell's Motion for Summary Judgment. (D0091, Order on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, 11/2/23). Plaintiff filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (D0093, Notice of Appeal, 11/8/23).

Plaintiff has not, however, preserved error as to all specific arguments raised on appeal. In instances where Defendant Brownell contends error was not preserved, this is specifically addressed within subsections responding to Plaintiff's pertinent arguments.

II. Scope and Standard of Review

There is no dispute that when constitutional questions are raised on appeal, the standard of review is de novo. (Plaintiff's Brief, P. 16).

III. The Supreme Court Order Violates the Separation of Powers Doctrine.

On appeal, Plaintiff does not discuss the doctrine of separation of powers. This doctrine, however, is the foundation of the district court's decision to grant Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. (D0091, Order on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment at 4, 11/2/23).

In *State v. Thompson*, 954 N.W.2d 402, 411 (Iowa 2021), the Court stated as follows regarding separation of powers:

[T]he constitutional text reserves to the legislative [branch] authority to regulate the practice and procedure in all Iowa courts, including Iowa's appellate courts. Article V, section 4 of the Iowa Constitution grants the supreme court appellate jurisdiction "under such restrictions as the general assembly may, by law, prescribe." Article V, section 6 provides the district court shall have jurisdiction "as shall be prescribed by law." And article V, section 14 of the constitution provides it is "the duty of the general assembly . . . to provide for a general system of practice in all the courts of this state." The judicial [branch]'s constitutional, statutory, inherent, and common law authority to regulate practice and procedure in its courts thus must give way where the legislative department has acted.

It is evident that under the doctrine of separation of powers, as generally discussed in *Thompson*, courts cannot alter a court procedure that has its source in statute passed by the legislature. *Root v. Tooney*, 841 N.W.2d 83, 89-90 (Iowa 2013) ("We may not change statutory terms . . ."); *see also City of Waterloo v. Selden*, 251 N.W.2d 506 (Iowa 1977) ("Courts do not pass on the policy, wisdom, advisability, or justice of a statute. The remedy for those who contend legislation which is within constitutional bounds is unwise or oppressive is the legislature . . .

.”); *State v. Phillips*, 610, N.W.2d 840, 842 (Iowa 2000) (clarifying that the separation of powers doctrine is “violated if one branch of government purports to use powers that are clearly forbidden, or attempts to use powers granted by the constitution to another branch”); *De Berg v. Cty. Bd. of Ed.*, 82 N.W.2d 710, 717 (Iowa 1977) (“It is our function to interpret legislative enactments, but not to establish new legislative provisions by judicial procedure, nor to nullify the clear intention of such enactments.”).

As the time period for filing suit is governed by statute, the judicial branch cannot usurp legislative authority by Supervisory Order. As such, the May 22, 2020, Order (and all other Iowa Supreme Court Orders tolling statutes of limitations) are unconstitutional and do not alter the time limit to pursue claims.

IV. Plaintiff’s Authorities are Inapplicable.

Rather than squarely address the doctrine upon which the district court based its ruling, Plaintiff provides the Court with a smattering of arguments and authorities that ultimately do nothing to help Plaintiff’s case. Plaintiff’s points are discussed in turn below.

A. *Basquin* Is Inapplicable.

Plaintiff argues that *State v. Basquin*, 970 N.W.2d 643 (Iowa 2022), is dispositive. (Plaintiff’s Brief, P. 24). Plaintiff strategically omits the facts of the case. (Plaintiff’s Brief, P. 24). Plaintiff suggests that *Basquin* stands for the

proposition that all Covid-19 Iowa Supreme Court Supervisory Orders, even ones that conflict with legislation, are constitutional. (Plaintiff’s Brief, P. 24). This is a misreading of *Basquin*.

State v. Basquin, 970 N.W.2d 643, 657 (Iowa 2002), is wholly inapplicable because it does not involve any statute enacted by the legislature. In *Basquin*, due to an Iowa Supreme Court Supervisory Order associated with the pandemic, Mr. Basquin filed a written Alford guilty plea in lieu of entering his plea in open court, and the Court accepted the plea. 970 N.W.2d at 650-651. Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(b) says that, with regard to felonies, “[b]efore accepting a plea of guilty, the court must address the defendant personally in open court” The question in *Basquin* consequently was whether the Court had authority to issue a Supervisory Order that temporarily allowed felony guilty pleas to be submitted in writing, in lieu of through an in-person court hearing. 970 N.W.2d at 652-655. The Court held that it “had the constitutional authority to issue the supervisory orders that temporarily suspended our rules of criminal procedure governing guilty pleas.” *Id.* at 654-55.

Importantly, in *Basquin*, the Court found that the Iowa Supreme Court has constitutional authority to regulate “court practice and procedure.” *Id.* at 655. The Court further observed the Iowa Supreme Court has inherent, statutory and

common law authority to prescribe court rules of practice and procedure. *Id.*; Iowa Code § 602.4201.

By contrast, in this case, we are not dealing simply with the Iowa Supreme Court's regulation of the judicial branch's procedural rules. Rather, we are dealing with the Iowa Supreme Court's authority to toll a statute of limitations prescribed by the legislature in Iowa Code section 614.1. In *Basquin*, the Court implied the result would be different if the legislature had enacted a statute relating in any way to the issue of how felony guilty pleas were to be entered. The Court observed: "In the instant case, the legislature has not enacted a statute prohibiting written guilty pleas to felonies." *Basquin*, 970 N.W.2d at 656. Here, there can be no question that the legislature enacted a statute that the Iowa Supreme Court chose to override through a Supervisory Order.

In connection with arguing that *Basquin* is applicable, Plaintiff cites two other cases. (Plaintiff's Brief, P. 25). More specifically, Plaintiff cites *State v. Tesch*, No. 21-0343, 2022 WL 1100922, at *3-*4 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 3, 2022). (Plaintiff's Brief, P. 25). Plaintiff also cites *Murphy v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 274 A.3d 412, 433-41 (Md. 2022). (Plaintiff's Brief, P. 25). Plaintiff has waived reliance on these cases, as arguments relating thereto were neither raised before the district court nor decided by the district court. *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002).

Even if the Court were to consider these cases, they are not favorable to Plaintiff. *State v. Tesch* involved a criminal defendant's contention that a Supervisory Order, which modified a criminal procedural court rule, violated his right to a speedy trial. No. 21-0343, 2022 WL 1100922, at *3-*4 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 3, 2022). *Tesch* did not involve a conflict between legislation and a Supreme Court Supervisory Order, like the case at hand. *Id.* As for *Murphy*, the analysis and outcome was governed by law unique to Maryland that has not been enacted here in Iowa. 274 A.3d at 433-41. In Iowa, the law set forth in *State v. Thompson* is dispositive. 954 N.W.2d at 411.

B. *Root* Is Inapplicable.

Subsection B of Plaintiff's Brief (PP. 25-29) focuses on *Root v. Toney*, 841 N.W.2d 83, 87 (Iowa 2013). *Root* involves straightforward application of a statute. *See id.* at 87-88. As such, *Root* does not support Plaintiff's position.

In *Root*, the Iowa Supreme Court applied Iowa Code section 4.1(34). *See id.* This Code section says that when the last day for filing an appeal falls on a day when the Iowa Supreme Court has closed a clerk's office, then the time for filing is to be extended to the next day the clerk's office is open. *Id.*; Iowa Code § 4.1(34). Mr. Toney did not file his notice of appeal on the thirtieth day from the date of judgment (the normal deadline for filing an appeal, per court rules) because the clerk's office closed early, per a cost-saving closure order of the Iowa Supreme

Court. *Root*, 841 N.W.2d at 84. So, he filed the appeal on the next day the clerk's office was open, which was thirty-one days from the date of judgment. *Id.* at 85.

The Court held that per the plain language of Iowa Code section 4.1(34), Mr. Toney's notice of appeal was timely filed. *Id.* at 89. The Court said that it could not change statutory terms under the guise of judicial construction, and the Court had to apply plain statutory language. *Id.* Given that *Root* involves application of plain statutory language, *Root* actually supports Defendant Brownell's position, not Plaintiff's. *Root* supports Mr. Brownell's position that the Court should apply the statute of limitations, as written, and find Plaintiff's Petition is time-barred.

Plaintiff argues that *Root* generally supports extending deadlines, as this "guarantees due process." (Plaintiff's Brief, P. 28). This argument overlooks how extending the statute of limitations would impact the constitutional due process rights of Defendant Brownell. Due process prevents the government from interfering with rights implicit in the concept of liberty. Iowa Const. art. I, § 1; Iowa Const. art I, § 9; *State v. Seering*, 701 N.W.2d 655, 662 (Iowa 2005) (superseded by statute on other grounds). Defendant has a right to dispose of stale claims per legislative enactment. The Supervisory Orders infringed on that right in violation of substantive due process of law. *See Thorp v. Casey's General Stores, Inc.*, 446 N.W.2d 457 (Iowa 1989) (finding due process violation).

Procedural due process requires notice and an opportunity to be heard. *Bowers v. Polk Cty. Bd. of Supervisors*, 638 N.W.2d 682, 691 (Iowa 2002). The Iowa Supreme Court acted unilaterally and did not give Defendant any notice or opportunity to be heard when it altered the statute of limitations. While the government possibly has a legitimate interest in reducing the spread of Covid, tolling all statutes of limitations in civil cases does not bear a rational relationship to that interest. *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471 (1972) (outlining due process considerations). In light of electronic filing requirements, simply filing a Petition does not risk Covid exposure. Should the Court find that Plaintiff's case is not time-barred, Defendant will be denied not only substantive, but also procedural, due process.

C. Iowa Constitution, Article V Is Inapplicable.

Plaintiff argues the Iowa Supreme Court's May 2020 Supervisory Order was authorized by Iowa Constitution article V, section 4. (Plaintiff's Brief, P. 30). This constitutional provision says the supreme court "shall have power to issue all writs and process necessary to secure justice to parties, and shall exercise a supervisory and administrative control over all inferior judicial tribunals throughout the state." Iowa Const. art. V § 4

The problem, however, is the Iowa Supreme Court went beyond exercising supervisory and administrative control over judicial tribunals. The Court infringed

on legislative authority. Therefore, article V of the Iowa Constitution did not provide the Iowa Supreme Court with authority to toll the statute of limitations.

Seemingly in connection with the argument that the Iowa Constitution provided authority for the Supervisory Order, Plaintiff argues that the Iowa Supreme Court had to act, to stop the “spread of disease, suffering and death.” (Plaintiff’s Brief, P. 31). Whether the Supreme Court needed to act to stop the spread of Covid is a matter of conjecture, as there is no evidence one way or the other on this point. (Plaintiff’s Brief, PP. 31-32). Plaintiff states the pandemic impacted her access to medical treatment, medical records, experts, and her attorney, even though there is no evidence in the record to support the statement. (Plaintiff’s Brief, PP. 31-32).

There is also no evidence or law supporting the theory that the legislature “abdicated [a] responsibility” to toll the statute of limitations. (Plaintiff’s Brief, P. 32). No such responsibility existed in the first place. The legislature is not required to take action because one particular group wants it to do so.

Plaintiff cites *Iowa C.L. Union v. Critelli*, 244 N.W.2d 564, 568 (Iowa 1976), for the proposition that “where the legislature fails to act, the [S]upreme [C]ourt *must* act” (Plaintiff’s Brief, P. 33)(emphasis added). This reading of *Critelli* would suggest the Supreme Court is tasked with the extreme workload of regulating all aspects of our lives that the legislature has neglected to mention. This

is not a reasonable, practical reading of *Critelli*. Not all aspects of our lives are regulated by the legislature, nor should they be.

Critelli discusses the “inherent common-law power of the courts to adopt rules for the management of cases on their dockets *in the absence of statute*.” 244 N.W.2d at 568-69 (emphasis added). Again, in this case, we have a statute that governs the statute of limitations. Where the legislature has spoken, Courts do not have any inherent authority to override legislative enactment. *See id.* at 569 (explaining that “where the legislature has not acted, courts possess a residuum of inherent common-law power to adopt rules to enable them to meet their independent constitutional and statutory responsibilities”).

D. Plaintiffs Waived the Issue of Equitable Tolling or, Alternatively, The Doctrine Does Not Apply.

Plaintiff argues that the Court should consider whether there was “equitable” authority to toll the statute of limitations. (Plaintiff’s Brief, PP. 29-30). Plaintiff did not preserve error as to equitable tolling of the statute of limitations. (Plaintiff’s Brief, PP. 36-44). Plaintiff never presented any argument or authorities relating to equitable tolling of the statute of limitations to the district court. (D0073, Resistance, 4/7/23). The district court never ruled on the issue of equitable tolling of the statute of limitations. (D0091, Order on Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment, 11/2/23). As such, arguments relating to “equitable tolling” have been waived. *Meier*, 641 N.W.2d at 537.

Even if the Court were to reach the issue of equitable tolling, there is no authority to apply it under the circumstances of the present case. One authority that the Plaintiff cites for “equitable principles” is *Askvig v. Snap-On*, 967 N.W.2d 558 (Iowa 2021). (Plaintiff’s Brief, PP. 29-30). In *Askvig*, the Iowa Supreme Court held that Iowa Code section 17A.19(3) (imposing a deadline for filing a petition for judicial review) is not a statute of limitations. 967 N.W.2d at 561-63. As such, the Court’s Supervisory Orders relating to tolling of statutes of limitations had no impact on Iowa Code section 17A.19(3). Here, unlike in *Askvig*, the Court needs to resolve an issue involving a statute of limitations.

Plaintiff extensively cites *Mormann v. Iowa Workforce Dev.*, 913 N.W.2d 554 (Iowa 2018). Per *Mormann*, Iowa Code section 216.15(13) required Plaintiff to file a complaint with the Iowa Civil Rights Commission no more than 300 days after the alleged discriminatory practice. 913 N.W.2d at 558. Plaintiff argued he did not know about the discriminatory practice until the 300 days had passed, however. *Id.* The Iowa Civil Rights Act authorized the Iowa Civil Rights Commission to establish rules, and the Commission adopted Iowa Administrative Code Rule 161-3.3(3), stating that the filing period was “subject to waiver, estoppel and equitable tolling.” *Id.* The Rule further stated that “[w]hether the filing period shall be equitably tolled in favor of a complainant depends upon the facts and circumstances of the particular case,” and “[e]quitable tolling suspends

the running of the filing period during the period of time in which the grounds for equitable tolling exist.” *Id.* at 558-59. The Rule has remained on the books since 1993, with no legislative action to overrule it, despite numerous amendments to the Iowa Civil Rights Act. *Id.* at 570.

The Court stated that the doctrine of equitable tolling incorporates two doctrines, the discovery rule and equitable estoppel. *Id.* The discovery rule involves considering what the Plaintiff knew and when she knew it. *Id.* Equitable estoppel involves consideration of whether the Defendant engaged in conduct that would reasonably deter the filing of a claim. *Id.*

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